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The Pacific National Bank (Luzon) Building faces east on the corner of Pacific Avenue
and South 13th Street in Tacoma's central business district. The Commercial style
building is six stories high on the Pacific Avenue (facade) elevation and five stories
high at the rear on Commerce Street. It measures 40 by 100 feet, occupying the
entire property. The structural system combines masonry load-bearing exterior walls
approximately two feet thick with an inner framework of metal columns and beams. The
interior walls are faced with lath and plaster. The exterior material is dense brown
brick, with copings, sills, and Timited ornamentation of terra cotta. The openings
on the first floor are articulated by large semi-circular arches, and the second
through the sixth floors are lighted by rectangular double-hung windows (which on the
fifth floor are crowned with semi-elliptical arches). The building terminates in
brick corbeling surmounted by an unadorned brick parapet.

The February 8, 1891, Sunday Ledger published a description of the interior of the
building as it appeared upon completion. Materials and furnishings were varied,
including mahogany trim from Mexico, marble mosaic flooring from Tennessee, and

walls adorned with frescoes. Three vaults were constructed by the Marvin Safe

Company of New York "of the latest and best pattern.” In the years since, the Pacific
Avenue level has undergone significant remodeling to accomodate business activities,
and some of the floors above have been modified for storage use. However, the

fifth and sixth floors retain many of the original office partitions. The vaults

with their related hardware and the pressed metal ceiling are also intact. Other
features (such as the marble floors) have been covered and it has not been deter-
mined if they are restorable. The exterior of the building has changed little with
the exception of fmodern signage and the addition of firé escapes and seismic bracing
at the various floor levels.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Pacific National Bank (Luzon) Building is significant as the surviving one of '
two commissions in Tacoma by the Chicago architectural firm of Burnham and Root.

An example of the Commercial style, it embodies the late nineteenth-century transi-
tion from the traditional load-bearing masonry wall structural system to the steel
skeleton/curtain wall form of the skyscraper. It also symbolizes the banking and
building activity which took place in Tacoma in conjunction with the completion of
the transcontinental line of the Northern Pacific Railroad.

Pacific Avenue was graded in 1873-74, just after Tacoma was selected as the terminus
for the Northern Pacific Railroad. For over ten years, bui]ding activity consisted
of frame business blocks and houses which lined the street in a disparate manner.
The pattern changed, however, as investors and businessmen anticipated the comple-
tion of the transcontinental railroad across the Cascade Mountains. When the line
was finished in 1887, a bu11d1ng boom was in progress, lasting until the Depression
of 1893. The firm of Daniel H. Burnham and John W. Root, Chicago, was retained to
design the Pacific National Bank Building, which was constructed at a cost of
$100,000. Root died before the building was completed in 1891, but he was credited
by Burnham with the design. The partners also produced the Fide]ity National Bank
Building in Tacoma, razed in 1949. Burnham and Root gained a national reputation
for commercial buildings which implemented the then innovative metal frame and
curtain wall construction essential to the development of the skyscraper. The
Pacific National Bank Building is a transitional example of the type, incorporating
the new system with the conventional method: walls of bearing masonry. Restrained
in its detailing, the building derives its architectural character from its fenes-
tration. Its ground-floor arches exhibit an earlier Romanesque influence, while

the organization of the upper floors is typical of the Commercial style in the ratio
of glass to brick.

The owner of the new building, the Pacific National Bank, had been organized in

1885 with C.P. Masterson, president, L.R. Manning, vice president, and T.B. Wallace,
cashier. They first established offices in the Tacoma Chamber of Commerce building,
a brick business block located on the southeast corner of 12th Street and Pacific
Avenue. In February, 1891, the bank moved to its building at Pacific Avenue and
South 13th Street. The following year, George W. Vanderbilt, youngest brother of
Cornelius Vanderbilt, II, purchased the Pacific National Bank Building as part of
his one million do11ar 1nvestment in Tacoma real estate. The Pacific National Bank
retained its headquarters in the building until 1898. When the Depression of 1893
halted economic activity, it was one of the few banks in Tacoma able to survive the
economic collapse. Since its inception on October 20, 1885, the Pacific National
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Bank has continued to the present, although it has undergone three capital changes.
On September 1, 1913, the Pacific National Bank of Tacoma and the National Bank of
Commerce merged under the name of the National Bank of Tacoma. Two further capital
changes occurred on August 21, 1937 (National Bank of Washington), and on August 17,
1970 (Pacific National Bank of Washington).

In 1899 the Tacoma Savings and Loan Association had been founded in the Pacific
National Bank (Luzon) Building; it remains one of the oldest such institutions

in the nation. In 1901 the building gained its name, the Luzon Building, for

reasons not ascertained but presumably related to the consolidation that year of
American control of the Philippines, of which Luzon was the main island and location
of the capital city, Manila. The banking institutions which used the building during
this time included the Metropolitan Bank (1899) and the London and San Francisco

Bank (1902-1904). The latter was bought by the Bank of California, which remained

in the building until 1918. The Scandinavian American Bank temporarily used the
premises in 1920. Over the years, offices in the upper floors housed lawyers,
insurance companies, and real estate agents. A tailor, a tea company, and a barber
occupied the Commerce Street store-fronts between 1891 and 1924. At that time,

the William L. Davis Company acquired the entire building for its store and warehouse
and continued to occupy the building until 1937. This business was well known for
the quality of its furniture and its interjor design work. In 1959 the National

Bank of Washington began to use the building as a warehouse for bank files.



